
 

 

 

Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and Democratic 
Services 
County Hall 
Matlock 
Derbyshire 
DE4 3AG 
 
Extension 
Alisha.Parker@derbyshire.gov.uk 
Direct Dial 01629 538324 
Ask for Alisha Parker 
 

 
PUBLIC 

 
To:  Members of Improvement and Scrutiny Committee - People 
 
 
 

Thursday, 30 December 2021 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Improvement and Scrutiny Committee - 
People to be held at 3.00 pm on Monday, 10 January 2022 in Council 
Chamber, County Hall, Matlock, DE4 3AG, the agenda for which is set out 
below. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services  
 
A G E N D A 
 
PART I - NON-EXEMPT ITEMS  
 
1.   Apologies for absence  

 
To receive apologies for absence (if any) 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
To receive declarations of interest (if any) 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 4) 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
To confirm the non-exempt minutes of the meeting of the Improvement and 
Scrutiny Committee – People held on 23 September 2021. 
 

4.   Public Questions (30 minute maximum in total) (Pages 5 - 6) 
 
(Questions may be submitted to be answered by the Scrutiny Committee, 
or Council officers who are attending the meeting as witnesses, on any 
item that is within the scope of the Committee. Please see the procedure 
for the submission of questions at the end of this agenda)  
 

5.   The future of Direct Care Homes for Older People (Pages 7 - 42) 
 

 



                                                                                                               
  

1 
 

PUBLIC 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the IMPROVEMENT AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – PEOPLE held on 23 September 2021 

 
PRESENT 

 
Councillor T Kemp (in the Chair) 

 
Councillors S Burfoot, A Dale, C Dale, R George, A Griffiths, J Patten, P 
Rose, S Swann, and J Woolley. 
 
Also in attendance – A Noble, J Parfrement, and S Stevens. 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors D Taylor, and J 
Wharmby. 
 
13/21  MINUTES RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 21 July 2021 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 
14/21  PUBLIC QUESTIONS There were no public questions. 
 
15/21  BETTER LIVES PROGRAMME A presentation had been 
given to the Committee by S Stevens to give a programme overview. 
 

There were five key workstreams with their own aims and metrics. Short 
term services provided extra support to help people live happy lives at home. 
P & P provided support planning for independent lives. Discharge supported 
to get people home from hospital. Working-age adults maximised 
independence for those with disabilities. Then Data Dock used data to help 
improve practice and services. 
 

The key achievements had been outlined within the presentation. Due 
to the work done on long term residential placements, more people were 
staying in their own homes. This reduced the percentage of people referred to 
ASC who entered long term residential care, despite rising numbers of 
referrals. This meant fewer people would move to Long Term Residential 
Placements each year.  
 

Further work had been done to move residents to more independent 
settings. The impact so far for people with a learning disability and /or who are 
autistic had been great. 27 people had moved to a more independent setting. 
The work done on day opportunities had allowed 318 people to have an 
outcome focused support plan. Embedding a progression model within 
supported living settings gave the opportunity to maximise independence for 
those with a learning disability and / or who were autistic. A new tool for 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

2 
 

practitioners had been rolled out with 24/7 grid reviews now being completed 
with people in supported living using this approach. 
 

Success stories from individuals impacted by the services had been 
shared within the presentation. One example had been ‘A used to access one 
of our day centres 4 days a week with community transport. Following 
engagements with the Better Lives programme review it was suggested that A 
could access a specific gardening progression model where clear learning and 
skills steps were introduced over 12 weeks. This  resulted in a growth in 
confidence and skills and now A is accessing a free allotment project in the 
community, alongside a friend they met. The allotment has large polytunnel so 
it is accessible through the winter too.’ 
 
16/21  CORPORATE PARENTING  A presentation had been 
given by J Parfrement. Corporate parenting referred to the shared 
responsibility across the council to ensure  that children and young people 
under the care of Derbyshire or leaving care were supported  to thrive. A good 
corporate parent should have the same aspirations for a child  in care or care 
leaver, as a good  parent would have for their child. 
   

The role of Corporate  Parenting Board included the pledge to children, 
multiagency  commitment, and an assurance role. Providing challenge as a 
pushy parent would. It was Based on the  experiences of those in care, 
leaving care and providing care and it was Elected member chaired. 
 
Key Statutory  Elements: 
 

 Providing a place for a child to live  and be cared for 

 Supporting their relationships 

 Ensuring learning needs were met 

 Ensuring physical and mental  health needs were met 

 Preparing and supporting the  move into and in early adulthood 
 
Budget: 
 

 CiC placements cost (LA)  £45m in 2020-21 (more than 1/3rd of total 
CS department  budget) 

 Projected to increase by £5-10m in 21-22 

 In addition approx. £0.8m placement costs funded  by UASC grant and 
£4m was funded  by the DSG HNB 

 Virtual school costs £1.2m 

 Other support for CiC (for example contact,  transport and therapy)  
approx. £1.6m 

 Social work – Circa £3m spend on teams  specifically supporting CiC 

 Support for care leavers cost the LA budget £3.1m  with an additional 
£0.7m of support for former  UASC funded by grant 

 Direct costs alone totaled £65-£70m - excluding:  management, back 
office support, IROs & QA, legal  services and court costs, costs of 

Page 2



 

3 
 

adoption and other  education support outside of virtual school and joint  
funded placements 

 
Quality Assurance had been provided at every level of the service and by 
different functions. The Children in Care and Care Leaver Performance had 
been outlined within the presentation.  

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Procedure for Public Questions at Improvement and Scrutiny 
 Committee meetings 

 
Members of the public who are on the Derbyshire County Council register of 
electors, or are Derbyshire County Council tax payers or non-domestic tax 
payers, may ask questions of the Improvement and Scrutiny Committees, or 
witnesses who are attending the meeting of the Committee. The maximum 
period of time for questions by the public at a Committee meeting shall be 30 
minutes in total.  
 
Order of Questions 
  
Questions will be asked in the order they were received in accordance with 
the Notice of Questions requirements, except that the Chairman may group 
together similar questions.  
 
Notice of Questions  
 
A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in 
writing or by email to the Director of Legal Services no later than 12noon three 
working days before the Committee meeting (i.e. 12 noon on a Wednesday 
when the Committee meets on the following Monday). The notice must give 
the name and address of the questioner and the name of the person to whom 
the question is to be put.  
Questions may be emailed to democratic.services@derbyshire.gov.uk  
 
Number of Questions  
 
At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question, and no 
more than one such question may be asked on behalf of one organisation 
about a single topic.  
 
Scope of Questions  
 
The Director of Legal Services may reject a question if it:  
• Exceeds 200 words in length;  
 

• is not about a matter for which the Committee has a responsibility, or does 

not affect Derbyshire;  
 

• is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  

 

• is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of 

the Committee in the past six months; or  
 

• requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:democratic.services@derbyshire.gov.uk


Submitting Questions at the Meeting  
 
Questions received by the deadline (see Notice of Question section above) 
will be shared with the respondent with the request for a written response to 
be provided by 5pm on the last working day before the meeting (i.e. 5pm on 
Friday before the meeting on Monday). A schedule of questions and 
responses will be produced and made available 30 minutes prior to the 
meeting (from Democratic Services Officers in the meeting room).  
It will not be necessary for the questions and responses to be read out at the 
meeting, however, the Chairman will refer to the questions and responses and 
invite each questioner to put forward a supplementary question.  
 
Supplementary Question 
  
Anyone who has put a question to the meeting may also put one 
supplementary question without notice to the person who has replied to 
his/her original question. A supplementary question must arise directly out of 
the original question or the reply. The Chairman may reject a supplementary 
question on any of the grounds detailed in the Scope of Questions section 
above.  
 
Written Answers 
  
The time allocated for questions by the public at each meeting will be 30 

minutes. This period may be extended at the discretion of the Chairman. Any 

questions not answered at the end of the time allocated for questions by the 

public will be answered in writing. Any question that cannot be dealt with 

during public question time because of the non-attendance of the person to 

whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer. 

Page 6



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 

 

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 

 

 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

CABINET  
 

18 November 2021 

 

Report of the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health 

 

The future of Direct Care Homes for Older People 
(ADULT CARE) 

 

 

1. Divisions Affected 
 

1.1 County-wide 

 

2. Key Decision 
 

2.1 This is a Key Decision because it is likely to: 
 

a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or making savings    
    which are, significant having regard to the budget for the service or  
    function concerned; and  
b) be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in  
    an area comprising two or more electoral areas in the County.  

 

3. Purpose  
 

3.1  Cabinet is asked to approve the undertaking of a public consultation, 
including consultation with the current residents and their families, on the 
future provision of accommodation for older people in a number of the 
Council’s residential care homes.   

 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 

4. Information and Analysis 
 
Background and Context 
 
4.1 The Council owns and runs 23 residential care homes for older people 

which makes it one of the largest local authority providers of residential 
care in the country.  There are 11 other residential care homes run by 
local authorities across the East Midlands Region; 2 in Nottingham City, 
1 in North Northamptonshire, 8 in West Northamptonshire and 0 in 
Leicester City Council, Rutland, Derby City, Leicestershire County 
Council, Lincolnshire County Council and Nottinghamshire County 
Council.  Each service is individually registered with the Care Quality 
Commission and inspected by them to ensure the required standards are 
being met.  In 2018, detailed property condition surveys were 
commissioned in relation to a number of these homes, focusing on 
general building condition and electrical systems in the older homes. 
These reports were commissioned in the context of concerns that the 
ageing buildings were no longer considered fit for purpose and a concern 
for the state of the buildings given their age and the ongoing need to 
ensure the safety and wellbeing of residents both now and in the future. 
The Director of Adult Social Services (DASS) advised Cabinet Members 
that an appropriate and rapid course of action was needed to mitigate the 
concerns raised and thereby ensure the ongoing safety of residents. 

 
4.2 Significant maintenance, renovation and refurbishment needs were 

identified which included the requirement for arrangements to be made 
for the homes to be rewired by September 2022 in addition to significant 
refurbishment works, including the replacement of boilers and heating 
systems, the refitting of all bathrooms and kitchens and the installation of 
sprinkler systems throughout the buildings.  To complete these major 
works Adult Care was advised that there would be significant disruption 
to residents including the potential requirement for people to move out of 
their home for up to 40 weeks whilst the work was undertaken.   

 
4.3 In light of the advice received on the standard of the electrical wiring and 

the associated risk, consideration was given as to whether immediate 
vacation of the properties was the necessary course of action. However, 
to avoid taking this action it was determined that a programme of mitigation 
measures could be implemented to adequately manage the immediate and 
medium term risks. 

 
As a result of the inspections and alongside implementing the urgent 
mitigation measures, a consultation exercise was undertaken in early 
2020 on proposals for the future of ten of the homes.   

 

Page 8



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

Previous Consultation  
 
4.5 A 12 week public consultation was undertaken early in 2020, following a 

report to Cabinet on 23 January 2020 regarding the proposed possible 
closure of the following 7 residential care homes; Ladycross House 
(Sandiacre), Beechcroft (West Hallam), East Clune (Clowne), Holmlea 
(Tibshelf), The Spinney (Brimington), Goyt Valley House (New Mills) and 
Gernon Manor (Bakewell), as well as the refurbishment of New Bassett 
House, Briar Close and Rowthorne.  The consultation regarding the 
possible closure of the seven homes followed advice from the council’s 
Corporate Property Department that these homes required a full electrical 
rewire by September 2022 to meet current safety standards.  

On 4 June 2020, Cabinet agreed that;    

• further to the consultation none of the homes proposed for closure 
would close unless a local care home or alternative provision was 
available to replace them and further consultation was undertaken as 
appropriate. 

• a further report setting out a programme of repair and refurbishment 
for these seven homes, to include any works required immediately to 
ensure their soundness and safety, would be presented to Cabinet in 
due course.  

• the plans to undertake a programme of work to refurbish New Bassett 
House, Briar Close and Rowthorne would continue, with a further 
report presented to Cabinet seeking a business case and 
procurement approval in due course.  

• Scrutiny Committee – People would be invited to consider including 
within its work programme, oversight of the next steps (with particular 
reference to the need for and type of local provision required), to 
ensure transparency of decision making and to make any 
recommendations to Cabinet or elsewhere that may arise as a result 
of such scrutiny.              

• a revised strategy and investment plan taking into account reviews of 
the Market Position Statement and of the strategic needs analysis 
would be presented to Cabinet by the end of 2020. 

 Actions taken following the Cabinet decision 

 The views of the Scrutiny Committee – People referred to in the fourth 
bullet point above, following the work they have undertaken, are set out 
at Appendix 2 along with the refreshed data regarding the alternative local 
provision currently available, which is at Appendix 3. 

Page 9



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 
The prior consultation considered the possible closure of the seven homes 
and the refurbishment of a further three homes. The outcome of that 
consultation was that the three homes proposed for refurbishment would 
continue to be refurbished and this work is now underway. The outcome 
in relation to the other seven homes was that they would not close until 
such time as a local care home or alternative provision was available to 
replace them, and further consultation had been undertaken. 
 

4.6 On 10 December 2020, the Executive Director for Adult Social Care and   
Health, submitted a report to Cabinet providing an update on the actions 
agreed at 4 June 2020 Cabinet.   

Cabinet was informed that the Council’s Property Department had 
compiled a schedule of works, including the work required over the next   
1-2 years, to refurbish the seven properties that were subject to the original 
consultation which included roof works, heating works/replacement of 
boilers, replacement of kitchen ventilation etc.  In addition to this, it was 
reported that the buildings would require a full, comprehensive, invasive 
electrical rewire to bring them up to the current required standard.  Whilst 
further feasibility studies would be required, it should be noted that the 
outline budgeting cost to refurbish the 10 homes subject to the initial 
consultation, (7 under consideration for possible closure and 3 for 
refurbishment), was reported to be approximately £30m.   

Cabinet agreed the revised timeline below: 

• December 2020 – January 2021: citizen engagement and 
engagement with care providers undertaken (including information 
from the virtual investment event 14 December 2020).  

• February 2021: completion of an Interim Market Position Statement to 
respond to the impact of COVID-19, which will be reported to Cabinet 
in March 2021.  

• Summer 2021 (estimated post pandemic): commencement of a full 
review of the care market to develop a refreshed Market Position 
Statement, review of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Joint 
Strategic Needs Analysis.  

• Summer 2021: completion of feasibility work on the seven homes 
which require rewiring.  

• Autumn 2021: consideration of a longer-term strategic plan taking 
account of the revised Market Position Statement, Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and Joint Strategic Needs Analysis. 

Page 10



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 It should be noted that Cabinet was assured on 10 December 2020 that 
the Scrutiny Committee – People, were satisfied that the mitigations 
currently in place at the seven homes were sufficiently robust and durable 
to address the perceived increased risk at these properties, but that was 
on the understanding these mitigations remain in place on an interim 
basis only and do not represent a long term, sustainable, solution.     

4.7    The detail required in order to commission the feasibility work that was 
recommended by Corporate Property in order to obtain an updated cost 
of the rewire and refurbishments at the 7 properties is completed.  The 
property team have previously provided budgeting estimates of 
approximately £27m to fully refurbish all seven homes which would 
include a full reinstall of the boiler and heating system, removal of any 
asbestos, the fitting of sprinklers in the ceiling, replacement of all 
bathrooms, a kitchen refit, replacement of the flooring throughout and a 
full decoration throughout.  It would be necessary for the current residents 
living in these homes to move to alternative accommodation on a 
temporary basis for a period of up to 40 weeks whilst the refurbishment 
work was undertaken.  Whilst further feasibility work would be required in 
order to obtain additional updated cost estimates, we are not proposing 
to progress with commissioning further feasibility studies at this stage in 
light of the information contained within the Interim Market Position 
Statement, which has shown that the trend away from residential care 
and towards care being provided at home has accelerated in the 
intervening period between the previous consultation exercise and this 
report.  The detail in relation to these aspects is contained within the 
remainder of this report. 

4.8   Whilst it has been necessary to delay the development of a full Market 
Position Statement in light of the pandemic, and it is acknowledged that 
a further engagement exercise will be required to fully understand its 
impact upon the views of local people about their future care and support, 
we consider there is sufficient additional and updated information 
available to support the recommendation that people should now be 
further consulted on the future of the seven homes listed above.  A 
consultation exercise at this stage in the process will also serve to further 
develop our understanding of the market in our locality and enable us to 
complete a comprehensive Market Position Statement.   

  Analysis of the current position   

4.9   At present, we have an Interim Market Position Statement for Older 
People’s Nursing, Residential, Extra Care and Homecare Services 2021 
– 2022 (“IMPS”), which was published in June 2021. The IMPS is 
based upon analysis of the current research and data and takes into 
account the feedback from the citizens engagement exercise carried out 
in January 2021. The IMPS highlights that people are continuing to 

Page 11



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

choose to live at home for longer and that people are entering care homes 
later in life and with more acute needs, which has resulted in a reduction 
in the demand for long-term residential care and an increased demand 
for nursing care and homecare.  Residential care home providers are 
reporting that they are now supporting people with more complex needs 
who would have previously had their needs met in a nursing home.  This 
trend is reflected within the Council’s directly provided residential care 
homes and is also reflected in the national picture.  As mentioned above, 
in February 2021 37% of the Council’s providers reported occupancy 
rates below 80%.   

4.10   The following information contained within the IMPS is relied upon to 
support the recommendation to conduct a consultation exercise on the 
proposals regarding possible closure of the homes identified in the report. 

4.10.1Recent modelling conducted by Laing-Buisson in 2021 suggests that 
there will be a lower number of people accessing residential care in the 
future than the ONS figures suggest.  This is because the ONS 
projections are based upon an assumption that entering a care home is 
inevitable in later years, but we know people are choosing alternative 
long-term care options.   

4.10.2Lower levels of demand are expected to continue for an extended period 
and recent research by the Institute for Public Policy Research found that 
there is a lower demand for residential care and that 1/3 of people are 
now less likely to seek residential care for an elderly relative, while 40% 
of over 65’s are less likely to consider it for themselves.   

4.10.3ONS data from the 2011 Census shows that from 2001 to 2011, the 
increase in the number of people in care homes (avg. 1.3%) did not rise 
in line with the general population (avg. 13%) and contrary to 
expectations, the 45% increase in the number of people aged 85+ since 
2001 has not resulted in a corresponding increase in demand for 
residential care.  There was in fact a reduction of 4.4% in the number of 
people aged 85+ in residential care between 2001 and 2017 and a 10.4% 
reduction between 1996 and 2017 (Laing-Buisson 2017).  

4.10.4Derbyshire’s long-term care admission rate per 100,000 of population 
was 730.7 in 2015-2016, this fell to 585.3 in 2019-2020, a drop of 25% 
despite an expanding population.  This local picture follows national 
trends which show a period of decline in the number of long-term 
admissions to care homes prior to the pandemic and throughout the 
pandemic.  The figures available for 2020 – 2021 indicate there has been 
a further 20% reduction in admission rates compared with 2019 – 2020.    

4.10.5Conversely, demand for homecare services for people who live in their 
own homes and are aged 65 and over has been increasing at pace. An 

Page 12



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

average of 4,504 people were supported by homecare services in 
Derbyshire every month during 2018. This increased by 3% to 4,656 
during 2019 and the number of people supported during 2020 increased 
by a significant 12%, or 5,201 per month average, in spite of people 
withdrawing from care due to the perceived risk of COVID infection.  

4.10.65,439 people were supported with a package of care in their home in 
January 2021 and the Council’s area demand figures indicate that over 
the last 12 months on average there were 102 people waiting for a 
service.  This figure includes people currently without support and others 
who may already receive support but need to change the type of support 
or provider, e.g. transferring from short-term to long-term services and 
hospital discharges.  The data indicates that in Q3 of 2020-21 (Oct - Dec 
2020), 129 or 87.7% of people referred to the Council after being 
discharged from hospital were supported to remain at home.  

4.11  The Council is taking steps to respond to this increased demand and 
recognises the need to develop a much stronger emphasis on existing 
types of support which are community and housing based, as well as new 
and innovative forms of care for the future.  The Better Lives work 
continues at pace to ensure there is sufficient capacity to support people 
who are being discharged from hospital with packages of support in their 
own home on a short-term basis, whilst the appropriate long-term support 
within the community is commissioned if it is required.  

4.12 In quarter 1 of this year, the new reablement offer is on target to ensure 
that an additional 1,320 people are able to access the reablement service 
every year and performance in the first quarter shows that the service 
supported 885 against a target of 897.  This work will continue to impact 
upon the number of people who can be supported in their own home.  

 

4.13  The Commissioning Strategy for Derbyshire 2019–2035, (the 
“Commissioning Strategy”), details the joint ambition of Derbyshire 
County Council, Health, Housing and the District and Borough Councils, 
to support older people to live independently in their homes and 
communities for as long as possible.   This strategy was based upon a 
strategic vision developed in 2018, which incorporated the wishes of older 
people who told us they wish to remain living in their own homes.  In 
creating the vision in 2018, the Council worked with the Housing Learning 
and Improvement Network (“Housing LIN”), which is a national 
independent network that brings together health and social care 
professionals to encourage innovative housing solutions that meet 
people’s needs and expressed wishes.  When asked, 69% of people in 
Derbyshire surveyed, expressed a wish to stay in their own home with 
care and support from a care provider in the hometown or village they are 
familiar with.  The engagement exercise conducted in January 2021 

Page 13



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

reaffirmed the message given to us by people living in Derbyshire that 
residential care is not the preferred option for most people.     
 

4.14  As described above, we know that when people do go into residential 
care, they often have more complex needs and it is therefore important 
that the structure and layout of our residential homes allow for these 
needs to be met.  The Commissioning Strategy sets out that good quality 
residential care should include en-suite facilities for all residents, 
including level access showers and bedrooms that are no smaller than 
12m square, with sufficient room within the bedrooms for visitors and 
carers to access both sides of the bed and with easy use of any 
equipment that is required for care.  There should be sufficient disabled 
toilet facilities, accessible outdoor space for residents and they should be 
dementia friendly in design.  When commissioning residential care, the 
focus needs to be on residential homes that meet the needs of older 
people with complex physical or medical care needs and where those 
with dementia can be supported.  

 
4.15  The homes requiring a rewire by September 2022   

 
In light of the advice received from the Council’s Corporate Property 
Department that the seven homes subject to the original consultation 
require a rewire by September 2022, and taking into consideration the 
information contained within the analysis section above, it is necessary 
to review all possible options with the aim of seeking to ensure that 
residents live in residential  homes which are safe, fit for purpose and 
meet the required standards, as well as delivering the Accommodation 
Strategy.   
 

4.16 Options available to the Council 
  

• One option is to do nothing and maintain the status quo.  This is not 
recommended as viable option in light of the advice received from 
colleagues in corporate property that major rewiring and refurbishment 
work is required at the seven sites to bring the properties up to the 
required standard.  It is not recommended that this option should be 
consulted upon.  
 

• One option is to rewire the homes and carry out any other essential 
maintenance work but not carry out a full refurbishment.  Any aesthetic 
damage done to the properties as a result of this work could be ‘made 
good’ following completion.  Whilst this is likely to bring down the 
immediate cost of the work it is not recommended as a viable option 
because this would not bring the properties up to the standard our 
residents expect and deserve.  For example, the properties would still be 
left without modern sprinkler systems throughout having a significant 

Page 14



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

impact upon the staffing requirement in these homes.  It is not 
recommended that this option should be consulted upon. 
 

• One option is to rewire and carry out major works to refurbish the homes 
including a full reinstall of the boiler and heating system, removal of any 
asbestos, the fitting of sprinklers in the ceiling, the replacement of all 
bathrooms, a kitchen refit and full decoration, as described in paragraph 
4.7.  This option would require current residents to move out for a period 
of up to 40 weeks.  

 

• One option is to close the homes and support residents to move to ‘local’, 
‘reasonable’ and ‘suitable’ alternative provision as recommended by the 
Improvement and Scrutiny Committee – People, the detail of which is set 
out in Appendix 2.   
 

• One option is to close the homes and support residents to move to any 
suitable alternative provision.   
 

It is proposed that the Council consults on the three viable options from the five 
listed above. The relevant factors to be considered as part of any consultation 
of the viable options are contained within the following paragraph. 
  

a) Cabinet has previously made a decision to only close the homes if a local 
care home or alternative provision was available to replace them.    
 

b) To ensure that all people requiring residential care can access high 
quality care in appropriate facilities a full rewire is required in the 7 homes 
to bring them up to standard.  
 

c) The homes require significant expenditure in the short and medium-term 
in order to address urgent maintenance and refurbishment issues. This 
includes rewiring as a priority, but also heating/boiler replacement, roof 
works, fire safety improvements and kitchen ventilation works, which 
cannot be delayed indefinitely.  The Corporate Property Department has 
advised that arrangements to replace the current wiring must be 
completed by September 2022 to ensure the electrics are brought up to 
the required standard within a reasonable timeframe.   
 

d) The homes are no longer fit for the purpose they were originally designed 
for and do not meet the design requirements set out in the 
Commissioning Strategy. Even if they are refurbished, they do not have 
the space, facilities or capability to be adapted to meet the needs of 
increasingly frail older people, which impacts upon the Council’s ability to 
provide high quality care.    
 

Page 15



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

e) As result of abridged timescales to complete this essential work any 
residents living in the homes in September 2022 would need to move out 
on a temporary basis for a period of up to 40 weeks whilst a full rewire or 
refurbishment is undertaken causing significant disruption and 
disturbance for residents and their families and for staff who would need 
to be redeployed during this period.  Current residents could return to the 
homes to live there in the longer-term following completion of the work.   

 
f) There is currently an oversupply of residential care beds in Derbyshire 

and in February 2021, 37% of the Council’s providers reported occupancy 
rates below 80%.  Local demand is following national trends and shows 
a period of decline prior to the pandemic which appears to have been 
accelerated by the pandemic.   
 

g) There is sufficient capacity in the market to provide alternative provision 
for the current residents. Information about the current vacancies in the 
relevant areas is at Appendix 3.    
 

h) In accordance with the expressed wishes of the majority of people 
consulted in Derbyshire about their future care needs, the Council will be 
seeking to offer alternatives to residential care through increased 
community based services and via engaging with the market in relation 
to the identified undersupply of housing with care provision to 2035. 

 
i) Significant expenditure on those homes which there is diminishing 

strategic need for and, even if refurbished, will still not be fit for purpose, 
is not the best use of public money. 

 
Preferred Course of Action  
 
4.17 In light of the above factors, it is proposed that approval is sought to 

commence consultation; with the possible closure of the seven homes 
subject to securing local reasonable and suitable alternative provision for 
the current residents set out as the perceived most viable option within 
that consultation. 

  
4.18 Whilst the Council considers this to be the likely most viable option at this 

stage and that suitable alternatives are currently available for residents 
within their local area, it is vital to the process that the views of the 
residents, their families and other stakeholders are sought prior to any 
decision being taken with regard to the future of these 7 homes. The 
Council will keep an open mind as to whether this option remains the 
most viable throughout any approved consultation exercise and will need 
to evaluate any responses received to such a consultation in order to 
ascertain whether further viable alternative options have been put 
forward, or give the council reason to reconsider whether the other 

Page 16



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

options above themselves represent a more viable future for each of the 
seven homes. Specific questions in this regard would form part of any 
approved consultation exercise. 

 

4.19 Should a consultation exercise be approved and, subsequently, closure 
of any homes be approved following that consultation, families and 
residents would be supported in accordance with the Council’s Major 
Change and Closure Guidance at appendix 4 and in accordance with the 
‘Pledges’ at appendix 5. At that point in the process, it would also be 
necessary to seek approval to explore viable options in relation to 
disposal of the site of each of the seven homes. This would ensure that 
all possible avenues available to the Council may be identified and 
evaluated in line with the Council’s priorities; for example, including but 
not limited to, opportunities for engaging developers to deliver additional 
housing where demand has been identified in the accommodation and 
support strategy, or disposing of the properties with a view to obtaining a 
capital receipt representing best value for the Council.  

 

5. Consultation 

 

If this report is approved, it is proposed that formal public consultation will 
commence on 22 November 2021 and last for 12 weeks ending on 14 
February 2022. A single consultation exercise would be carried out 
covering all seven homes which are the subject of this report.  

 

We also propose engaging informally with the staff members of each of 
the seven homes as part of the consultation exercise. Such engagement 
will encourage all staff to participate in the consultation and to share their 
experiences and views on the proposals.  We will also offer support 
through the process, engaging more formally with the staff of any home 
which may eventually be closed and we would seek to support as many 
staff as possible to be redeployed into other available vacancies across 
both the department and the wider Council.   

 
We will support individual residents and their families to understand and 
engage with the consultation process and the potential implications for 
them by offering face to face consultations, where requested, and 
creating an information pack for residents to ensure the relevant 
information is presented in an accessible and clear format.   

 

Subject to this report being approved and the consultation exercise 
undertaken it is anticipated that, once the consultation responses have 
been considered and an Equality Impact Analysis completed, a further 
report will be presented to Cabinet regarding the proposed next steps. 
Dependent upon the outcome of any decision at that time, an indicative 
timeline for events following this would be: 

Page 17



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 

• 07 April 2022: Cabinet receives and considers a report on the 

outcome of the consultation. 
 

• 11 April 2022: Dependent on the decision of Cabinet, the social work 
teams start work on individual patient care assessments in order to reassess 
the individual residents affected in terms of their suitability to move, and, as 
appropriate, to tailor individual planning for alternate accommodation.  This 
work would be prioritised to ensure that the people impacted were provided with 
information about the available options in order to allow them and their families 
to make the best choice available to them. Cabinet should note that if the 
process reaches this stage, further focused consultation would need to be 
carried out with individual residents, taking into account the individual’s personal 
circumstances in order to understand their appropriate individual needs, and to 
locate and provide the best suitable alternative provision that will meet those 
needs.  
 

6. Alternative Options Considered 
 

6.1 To determine the future provision of accommodation for older people in 
the seven residential care homes without conducting a further public 
consultation exercise. This is not recommended as a viable option 
because proposals to make significant changes in service provision 
require consultation with the public and those directly affected, including 
service users, staff and carers and relevant stakeholders. In addition it 
would not meet the previous Cabinet commitment in June 2020 that “none 
of the homes proposed for closure would close unless a local care home 
or alternative provision was available to replace and further consultation 
be undertaken as appropriate”.    

 

 7. Implications 

 

7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 
preparation of the report. 

 

8. Background Papers 

 

Older People’s Housing, Accommodation and Support: a commissioning 
strategy for Derbyshire 2019 - 2035 

 

Interim Market Position Statement for Older People’s nursing, residential, 
extra care and homecare services 2021 – 2022. 

 

Cabinet on 23 January 2020 – Report of the Executive Director for Adult Social 
Care and Health; Revised vision and future strategy for Direct Care homes for 
Older People 2020 – 2025 

Page 18



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 

Cabinet 4 June 2020 – Report of the Executive Director for Adult Social Care 
and Health; Outcome of the consultation on the future of Direct Care Homes for 
Older People 

 

Cabinet 10 December 2020 - Report of the Executive Director for Adult Social 
Care and Health; Direct Care homes for older people: update on actions 

 

Cabinet 11 March 2021 – Report of the Chairman of the Improvement and 
Scrutiny Committee – People; Scrutiny of the next steps in relation to Direct 
Care Homes for Older People – update on progress 

 

9. Appendices 

 

9.1 Appendix 1 - Implications 

 

9.2 Appendix 2 - Outcome of engagement of the Scrutiny Committee – 
People  

 

9.3 Appendix 3 – Alternative local provision within 10 miles of each home 

 

9.4  Appendix 4 - Adult Care – Major Change and Closure Guidance 
 https://staff.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/working-here/adult-

care/major-change-and-closure-guidance-accommodation-care-and-support-
for-older-people.pdf 

9.5 Appendix 5 – Pledges to Residents  
 

10. Recommendation(s) 
 

That Cabinet approves: 
 

(a)   The programme of formal public consultation on the future of the 
homes listed below (one of which includes an integral day centre), 
including possible closure, for a period of 12 weeks, to be conducted as 
set out in the report: 

 

• Ladycross House (Sandiacre) 

• Beechcroft (West Hallam) 

• East Clune (Clowne) 

• Holmlea (Tibshelf) 

• The Spinney (Brimington) 

• Goyt Valley House (New Mills) 

• Gernon Manor (Bakewell) 
 

(b)  That a further report will be received following the conclusion of the  
 consultation and market engagement processes, including a full Equality  

Page 19

https://staff.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/working-here/adult-care/major-change-and-closure-guidance-accommodation-care-and-support-for-older-people.pdf
https://staff.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/working-here/adult-care/major-change-and-closure-guidance-accommodation-care-and-support-for-older-people.pdf
https://staff.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/working-here/adult-care/major-change-and-closure-guidance-accommodation-care-and-support-for-older-people.pdf


 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

       Impact Analysis. 
 

 

11. Reasons for Recommendation(s)   
 

11.1 Proposals to make significant changes in service provision require 
consultation with the public and those directly affected, including service 
users, staff and carers and relevant stakeholders to ensure that their 
views can be taken into account when a final decision is made. 
Consultation for 12 weeks is proposed to ensure the Council complies 
with its legal obligations.  

 
11.2 A further report following the conclusion of a consultation is 

recommended to ensure that Cabinet is fully informed of the outcome of 
the consultation, any market engagement processes and EIA when it 
makes a decision on the future of the seven homes.      

12.     Is it necessary to waive the call-in period? 

12.1   No  

 

  

Page 20



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 

Appendix 1 

Implications 

Financial 

1.1 The gross budget available as a result of the proposed closure 
programme for the seven homes would be in the region of £7.577m 

 
However, there would be a requirement for up to 103 beds to be 
purchased from the independent sector for residents to move to (based 
on current occupancy of 42.6%). The ongoing costs of this would be an 
estimated £3.188 million based on an average weekly cost of £593 per 
placement. 

 
This would result in a net surplus of £4.389m. Of this a proportion would 
need to be allocated against the Better Lives project following successful 
work undertaken on the pathway redesign for older people to remain 
within their own homes for as long as possible. 

 
These figures don’t include provision for potential redundancy costs, site 
clearance/security costs. Also, potential receipts from sale of 
land/property are not included. 

 
In addition there is some urgent remedial work that needs to be 
undertaken within these homes at a cost of £2.400 million.  The full 
refurbishment costs for these homes is estimated to be £27.000 million.    

Legal 

2.1 The Care Act 2014 imposes a general duty on local authorities to promote 
an individual’s well-being (section 1 Care Act 2014).  

 
‘Well-being’ is a broad concept but particular reference is made to an 
individual’s control over day-to day life (including over care and support 
and the way in which it is provided) domestic, family and personal 
relationships and also the suitability of living accommodation (section 
1(2)(d), (g) & (h) Care Act 2014). Local authorities are also required to 
have regard to particular matters regarding well-being, including the 
importance of beginning with the assumption that the individual is best-
placed to judge the individual's well-being; the individual's views, wishes, 
feelings and beliefs; and the importance of the individual participating as 
fully as possible in decisions relating to the exercise of the function 
concerned and being provided with the information and support 
necessary to enable the individual to participate (section 1(3)(a), (b) and 
(e) Care Act 2014).  

Page 21



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

Local authorities must promote diversity and quality in the provision of 
services. There is a duty to promote the efficient and effective operation 
of the market, which includes ensuring that there is a variety of high 
quality services and providers to choose from (section 5 Care Act 2014). 

  
An assessment of needs must be carried out where it appears to the local 
authority that a person may have needs for care and support. The 
assessment must identify whether the adult has any eligible needs. If 
there are, the assessment must state what those needs are. (Section 
9(1), Care Act 2014.) A Local authority must also assess any carer 
(current or prospective) where it appears they may have need for support. 

  
After assessing what the needs of an adult or carer are, a Local Authority 
must consider whether the needs meet the eligibility criteria for a 
provision or service (section 13(1), Care Act 2014). The criteria does not 
specify the types of care and support that a Local Authority must provide 
to meet eligible needs. Prior to any individual moving accommodation, 
their needs assessment and care and support plan should be 
reviewed.  In offering alternative accommodation the Local Authority 
should have regard to the Care and Support (Choice of Accommodation) 
Regulations 2014. 

 
Proposals to make significant changes in service provision require 
consultation with the public and those directly affected, including service 
users, staff and carers and relevant stakeholders. 

 
Case law has established minimum requirements of consultation, which 
are: 

a) Consultation must be at a time when proposals are at a formative 
stage; 
b) Sufficient information must be given to permit a person to “give an 
intelligent consideration and response”; 
c) Adequate time must be given for consideration and response; and 

d) The results of the consultation must be conscientiously taken into 
account in finalising any proposal and provided to the decision maker 
to inform their decision 

 
Following the consultation set out in the report Members will need to take 
careful account of the views expressed in arriving at their decision. In 
addition, any final decisions must also take into account the rights of 
service users as set out in the Human Rights Act 1998, specifically Article 
8, “Right to respect for private and family life”.  

 
In assessing these proposals, the Council should also have regard to its 
statutory duties under the Care Act 2014 set out above and the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. (PSED) under the Equality Act 2010. 

Page 22

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/6-606-4525?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/6-606-4525?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/2-607-1207?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)


 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 
The PSED requires public authorities to have "due regard" to: 

 

• The need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and 
any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010 
(section 149(1a)). 
 

• The need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it (section 149(1b)). This involves having due regard to the 
needs to: 
 

• remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 
 

• take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons 
who do not share it (section 149(4)); and  

 

• encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by 
such persons is disproportionately low.  

 
Preliminary consideration has been given to the impact of the proposals 
on persons with protected characteristics in drawing up these proposals. 
In particular it is recognised that the methods and content of the 
consultation will need to be designed so as to fully reflect the needs of 
the relevant protected groups, in particular older people and disabled 
people. 

 
In addition, regard has been paid to the Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) 
carried out in respect of the care pathway redesigns as is referred to in 
the report. A full EIA will be prepared during the consultation process 
reflecting issues that are raised during the consultation process. This will 
be reported in full to Cabinet and a full copy of the EIA made available to 
Members in order that any adverse impact along with any potential 
mitigation can be fully assessed. Cabinet members will be reminded at 
that time of the need to have careful regard to the conclusions of the EIA. 

 
Human Resources 

 

3.1 Any workforce implications arising from the proposals will be the subject 
of further reports on the conclusion of public consultation. Staff will be 
included in the public consultation and as mentioned in Section 5 of the 
report, separate engagement with, and support for, all staff of the homes 

Page 23



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

that are the subject of this report will be carried out as part of any 
consultation exercise. 

 
Information Technology 

 

4.1 None directly arising. 
 

Equalities Impact 
 

5.1 The Council has a duty to recognise and mitigate the impact of any 
changes it proposes upon people in protected groups. The proposals in 
this report affect older and disabled people living in residential care 
homes.  

 

5.2 There are 73 long term residents living in the 7 homes (as at 20 July 
2021) of which 78% are women and 22% are men; 57.5% are over 85 
years old, 42.5% are between 65 and 84 years old and 0 are under 65; 
98.5% are white British, 1.5 % are from other backgrounds. There are an 
additional 18 short term residents, (as at 20 July 2021), 77% are women 
and 23% are men; 61% are over 85 years old and 39% are between 65 
and 84; 100% of the short-term residents are white British.     

 

5.3 The Council will take account of the challenges which the people affected 
by the proposals in this report face, both in terms of participation in the 
consultation and in ensuring that the impact of any changes is mitigated 
if they are to be implemented.  Family and friends will be invited to 
participate in the consultation and advocacy services will be arranged for 
people who require them. In terms of the impact of the changes, if they 
are to be implemented, attached at appendix 4 is the Council’s “Major 
Change and Closure Guidance” which sets out the arrangements which 
will be made if a decision is made to close a home.  

 

5.4 A full Equality Impact Analysis will be undertaken and this will be reported 
to Cabinet on the completion of the consultation on the proposals in this 
report, should a consultation exercise be approved by Cabinet.  

 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 

 

6.1 In the Council Plan 2021 – 2025 the Council states that listening to, 
engaging and involving local people in order to ensure services are 
responsive and take account of what matter most to people, as being a 
core value.   

 

6.2  The Council commits to work together with its partners and communities 
to be an enterprising council, delivering value for money and enabling 
local people and places to thrive, and to spend money wisely making the 
best use of the resources that it has.  

Page 24



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

 

Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, Property 
and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 

7.1 As set out in the report. 
 

  

Page 25



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

Appendix 2 

 

11 March 2021 – Scrutiny of the Next Steps in Relation to Direct Care 
Homes for Older People – Update on Progress from Councillor Musson   

On 4 June 2020 Cabinet invited Scrutiny Committee – People to consider 
including within its work programme, oversight of the next steps (with particular 
reference to the need for and type of local provision required), to ensure 
transparency of decision making and to make any recommendations to Cabinet 
or elsewhere that may arise as a result of such scrutiny.    

On 11 March 2021, the Chairman of the Improvement and Scrutiny Committee 
– People, provided an update in relation to the work completed and provided 
comment on the methodology that might be used to determine what is “local” 
and “suitable” alternative provision, in the event of each of the above-mentioned 
care homes closing. 

Whilst the committee did not provide any comment on any proposals with 
respect to the future of the seven homes, they did provide comment on the 
proposed methodology to decide what the definition of the terms “local”, 
“suitable” and “reasonable” might be.  To assist the Scrutiny Working Group, 
Officers from Adult Care provided descriptions of different types of alternative 
provision and suggested definitions for the terms “local”, “suitable” and 
“reasonable”. The definitions provided were as follows: 

Local - It was suggested by officers that for the purposes of relocating people 
as a result of any residential care home closure any accommodation within a 
ten-mile radius of their existing care home would be considered as local.   

Suitable – In the context of any proposed care home closure it is likely (but not 
always) that the most suitable alternative would be another residential care 
home.   

Reasonable – It was suggested that a reasonable alternative would be that 
which is the most appropriate setting for the individual, based on an assessment 
of need and which could offer a combination of “suitable” and “local” as defined 
above.  It would be expected that in the context of an alternative residential care 
home this would be any establishment within the whole market, not necessarily 
just a Council operated alternative.  

As part of this work, Scrutiny Members were provided with a map of the 
surrounding area for each of the seven homes with a 10 mile radius drawn and 
Members were advised of the vacancies at residential care homes in this ‘local’ 
area with an indication of the Care Quality Commission rating for each home.  
This information has been updated and the latest figures are at Appendix 3. 

Cabinet was asked by the Chair of the Improvement and Scrutiny Committee – 
People, to note the following;  

Page 26



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

• Note that due to the revised timetable the Committee will not be able to 
deliver against all of the key lines of enquiry in the timeframe anticipated.  

• Note that the Improvement and Scrutiny Committee – People has 
considered the proposed methodology to determine what is “local” and 
“suitable” alternative provision.  

• When determining what is “local” provision, not only consider distance but 
also place a high priority on a person’s connectedness to an area, the 
location of family and friends and accessibility to transport routes.  

• When determining what is “suitable” provision, place a high degree of 
importance on the ongoing affordability for individual service users of 
CQC rated “good” or above provision.  

• Note that the Committee recognises that in this current pandemic climate 
occupancy levels have been significantly reduced and operating costs 
are temporarily well above the norm. The situation is unlikely to change 
in any significant way in the immediate term, but measures are being put 
in place, both nationally and locally, to improve the situation in the more 
medium term. The Committee understands the need to delay the 
development of the Market Position Statement and think it sensible to 
delay decisions on long term strategies until such a time that future 
service needs and the state of the market are more predictable.  

• Note that when the Committee conducts pre-decision scrutiny 
deliberations in relation to the future of the seven care homes, Members 
will require demand and the supply data for residential care that can be 
viewed with a high degree of certainty.   

The Committee explained the position that given there is the potential for both 
demand for residential care and the supply of appropriate provision to fluctuate 
considerably during the ongoing uncertainties created by the pandemic, the 
timing of the decision about the future of the seven care homes and the long-
term accommodation strategy needs to be carefully considered.  

When considering the proposed methodology, Members placed great 
importance on the individual assessment of current needs when determining 
what is “local” for each resident. There was unanimous agreement that whilst 
distance is an important factor, it is not sufficient to determine “local” in terms of 
a 10-mile radius from a person’s existing residence. Therefore, Members 
sought assurance that factors outlined in the explanation of individual 
assessment of current need, (such as accessibility to transport routes, location 
of family and friends and a person’s connectedness to the area), will be given 
sufficient consideration when identifying options for each individual.  

Page 27



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

The Committee considered that the maps provided were a helpful visual aid to 
see the number and location of provision in each area. However, it was felt that 
it was an oversimplification to ask Members to form a view about the approach 
for future provision by merely counting up the number of vacancies in an area 
and comparing that to the number of residents in each of the DCC homes under 
consideration.  

As such, the parameters set for “local”, “suitable” and “reasonable” are very 
much to be treated as guiding principles which must be viewed entirely 
subjectively and subject to an individual’s personal circumstances, which may 
require those parameters to be flexed in order to provide the best suitable 
alternative provision that will meet their appropriate individual needs. 
 

  

Page 28



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

Appendix 3  
 

See attached documents 

 

Appendix 3 Goyt Valley House  
Appendix 3 The Spinney  
Appendix 3 Ladycross  
Appendix 3 East Clune  
Appendix 3 Holmlea  
Appendix 3 Gernon Manor 
Appendix 3 Beechcroft 10 

Appendix 3 PVI – DCC vacancies as at October 2021 

 

  

Page 29



Appendix 3 

1 
 

Home name Postcode Number 
of long-
term 
residents 

Total 
Vacancies 

Total 
Vacancies 
rated as 
‘good’ within 
a 10 mile 
radius 

Total Vacancies 
rated as good 
within a 12.2 
mile radius 

CQC rating Distance 
miles 

Top ups 

GOYT VALLEY HOUSE – New Mills  SK22 4PA 8 
 

  Requires 
Improvement 
27/09/19 

0  

BRANKSOME CARE HOME - High Peak SK17 6XB  0   Requires 
Improvement 
19/11/20 

12.3 0 

OAKFORD MANOR - High Peak SK13 2AJ  0   Inadequate, 
23/09/20 

10.1 0 

HADDON HALL - High Peak SK17 9NW  29  29 Good, 17/09/19 13 varies 

ARGYLE CARE HOME - High Peak SK17 6JR  3  3 Good, 02/12/17 12.2 varies 

GABLES CARE HOME - High Peak SK17 6TD  2  2 Good, 16/11/18 12.1 0 

HAWTHORNS CARE HOME - High Peak SK17 9AR  4  4 Good, 21/06/19 12.1 varies 

PAVILION CARE HOME - High Peak SK17 6XJ  0  0 Good, 03/01/19 12.1 low 

PENDLEBURY COURT - High Peak SK13 8DN  9  0 Requires 
Improvement 
13/03/20 

7.5 0 

PENNINE CARE CENTRE - High Peak SK13 6JW  4 2 2 Good, 16/11/19 8 0 

REGENCY HALL - High Peak SK13 1PJ  0   Requires 
Improvement 
13/03/20 

9.7 0 

WATFORD HOUSE CARE HOME - High 
Peak 

SK12 4EJ  2   Requires 
Improvement 
28/03/19 

1.5 medium 

WELBY CROFT - High Peak SK23 9RY  3   Requires 
Improvement 
19/03/21 

5.8 varies 

DCC HOMES         

P
age 30



Appendix 3 

2 
 

 

NB: for DCC Homes ** previously considered for closure, * due for refurbishment 

 

Home name 
 

Postcode Number of long-
term residents 

Vacancies ‘Good’ 
vacancies 

CQC rating Distance 
miles 

Top ups 

GERNON MANOR HOUSE - Bakewell DE45 1EN 8   Requires Improvement 
2/11/19 

 
 

DARLEY HALL CARE HOME DE4 2FB  0 0 Good, 05/02/20 7.6 varies 

LONGMEADOW DE4 3BN  0 0 Good, 10/04/19 8.7 0 

MOORLAND HOUSE S32 1DD  6 6 Good, 06/06/18 9.4 high 

OLD VICARAGE CARE HOME DE45 1FJ  2 0 Requires Improvement 
16/04/20 

0.6 high 

HADDON HALL SK17 9NW  29 29 Good, 17/09/19 12.8 varies 

IVONBROOK DE4 2JW  0 0 Good, 21/02/19 6.4 high 

LILYBANK HAMLET DE4 3DQ  10 10 Good, 24/03/20 8.3 medium 

MASSON HOUSE DE4 3PY  0 0 Good, 11/01/18 10 0 

DCC Homes        

THOMAS FIELDS - Buxton SK17 7BR.  4 0 Requires Improvement 
16/01/20 

12.5  

MEADOW VIEW – Darley Dale DE43BN  0 0 Good 26/08/20 6.8  

WHITESTONES - Chapel SK23 9TW  11   Requires 
Improvement 
20/02/20 

6.0  

THOMAS FIELDS - Buxton SK17 7BR.  4   Requires 
Improvement 
16/01/20 

11.0  

Totals (number of beds required and 
total vacancies within the vicinity) 

 8 
 

71 2 40    

P
age 31



Appendix 3 

3 
 

Totals (number of beds required and 
total number of vacancies in the 
vicinity) 

 8 51 45    

 

 

P
age 32



Appendix 3 

4 
 

Home name Postcode Number of 
long-term 
residents 

Vacancies ‘Good’ 
Vacancies  

CQC rating Distance 
(miles) 

Top ups 

THE SPINNEY – Brimington S43 1BE 13 
 

 Requires Improvement 
15/5/19 

 
 

ASHCROFT CARE HOME S41 0BT  20 0 Inadequate 10/03/21 4 0 

WHITTINGTON CARE CENTRE S41 9HF  0 0 Good, 14/12/17 2.5 0 

WILLOWS CARE HOME S43 3BW  10 10 Good, 26/02/19 4.3 low 

BROOKHOLME CARE HOME S40 3LA  1 1 Good, 27/07/18 4.7 low 

HEATHER VALE COURT S41 0HZ  0 0 Good, 08/01/20 3.7 high 

RIVERDALE CARE HOME S41 7LL  6 6 Good, 04/01/18 2.7 0 

SPRINGBANK HOUSE S40 4AA  4 4 Good, 11/07/18 4.1 low 

ASHLEIGH S404TE  0 0 Good, 14/12/19 2.3 medium 

BANKS CLOSE HOUSE S410RZ  3 0 Inadequate 24/12/20 3 varies 

BRIMINGTON CARE CENTRE S431NN  0 0 Good, 04/01/19 1.1 0 

CHATSWORTH LODGE S403BQ  0 0 Good, 10/04/19 3.8 0 

ELM LODGE S418SJ  8 0 Requires Improvement 
7/9/19 

1.9 low 

RAVENSWORTH S445HP  2 2 Good, 21/02/20 8.6 low 

RIDGEWOOD HOUSE S417LL  0 0 Good, 04/01/18 1.9 low 

DCC homes        

STAVELEY CENTRE – Middlecroft S43 3LY  8 8 Good 26/02/19 2.6  

EAST CLUNE – Clowne** S43 4NW  0 0 Good 10/03/20 7.9  

THOMAS COLLEDGE – Bolsover S44 6DJ  3 3 Good 31/07/17 6.6  

THE GRANGE – Eckington S21 4FT  4 4 Good 13/11/19 6.4  

HOLMLEA – Tibshelf** DE55 5PS  0 0 Requires Improvement 
13/12/19 

9.9  

Totals (number of beds required and 
total number of vacancies within the 
vicinity) 

 13 69 38    

P
age 33



Appendix 3 

5 
 

 

Home name Postcode Number of long-
term residents 

Vacancies ‘Good’ 
Vacancies  

CQC rating Distance 
(miles) 

Top 
ups 

EAST CLUNE – Clowne S43 4NW 7   Good 10/03/20 
 

 

VALE CARE CENTRE – Bolsover S44 6PS  6 0 Requires Improvement 
23/01/20 

7.3 0 

RICHMOND CARE HOME – Bolsover NG20 8QE  7 7 Good, 13/11/19 8.7 0 

HOLLYBANK CARE HOME – Bolsover S80 4JH  8 8 Good, 30/06/18 2 0 

AUTUMN GRANGE – Bolsover S80 4JF  2 0 Requires Improvement 
06/8/19 

2.4 0 

HADDON HOUSE – Bolsover S434JU  2 2 Good, 27/02/19 1.2 0 

LODGE CARE CENTRE – NE 
Derbyshire 

S21 1AH  5 5 Good, 12/03/19 5.6 low 

APRIL PARK – NE Derbyshire S214GA  9 9 Good, 13/02/19 6.35 low 

NETHERMORE CARE HOME – NE 
Derbyshire 

S21 1AL  0 0 Good, 10/04/19 6 0 

CLIFF HOUSE – Bolsover S43 4LE  3 3 Good, 11/12/18 1.27 low 

LANGWIDTH LODGE – Bolsover NG20 9ES  0 0 Good, 22/01/21 6.24 0 

DCC Homes        

STAVELEY CENTRE – Middlecroft S43 3LY  8 8 Good 26/02/19 6.1  

THE SPINNEY- Brimington** S43 1BE  0 0 Requires Improvement 
15/5/19 

7.8  

THOMAS COLLEDGE – Bolsover S44 6DJ  3 3 Good 31/07/17 4.8  

THE GRANGE – Eckington S21 4FT  4 4 Good 13/11/19 5.7  

NEW BASSETT HOUSE – Shirebrook* NG20 8JW  0 0 Good 17/10/18 7.7  

Totals (number of beds required 
and total number of vacancies in 
the vicinity) 

 7 57 49    

 

P
age 34



Appendix 3 

6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Home name Postcode Number of long-
term residents 

Vacancies ‘Good’ 
Vacancies  

CQC rating Distance 
(miles) 

Top ups 

HOLMLEA – Tibshelf DE55 5PS 11 
 

 Requires Improvement 
13/12/19 

 
 

PINXTON MANOR NG16 6PX  0 0 Good, 07/02/19 5.7 low 

CLAYDON LODGE S42 5LY  19 19 Good, 22/02/20 5.6 low 

NORMANTON LODGE DE55 2EF  1 1 Good, 22/05/19 4.14 low 

OLD VICARAGE - S459AQ  10 10 Good, 07/10/17 5.3 medium 

GABLES -  S425RJ  2 2 Good, 24/06/17 3.5 0 

GROVE HOUSE -  S450AQ  2 2 Good, 11/01/19 7.5 medium 

HAZELDENE HOUSE -  S459DX  0 0 Requires Improvement 
10/04/19 

5.5 0 

HOLMEWOOD MANOR -  S425RH  13 13 Good, 11/05/19 3.7 low 

DCC Homes        

STAVELEY CENTRE – Middlecroft S43 3LY  8 8 Good 26/02/19 10.0  

THE SPINNEY- Brimington** S43 1BE  0 0 Requires Improvement 
15/05/19 

9.8  

THOMAS COLLEDGE – Bolsover S44 6DJ  3 3 Good 31/07/17 8.8  

NEW BASSETT HOUSE – 
Shirebrook* 

NG20 8JW  0 0 Good 17/10/18 7.9  

ROWTHORNE – Swanwick* DE55 1RZ  0 0 Good 05/01/18 6.3  

Totals (number of beds 
required and total number of 
vacancies within the vicinity) 

 11 58 58    

P
age 35



Appendix 3 

7 
 

Home name Postcode Number of 
long-term 
residents 

Vacancies ‘Good’ 
Vacancies 

CQC rating Distance 
(miles) 

Top ups 

LADYCROSS HOUSE – Sandiacre NG10 5GF 7 
 

 Good, 02/04/20 0  

ALEXANDRA CARE HOME NG10 4AA  23 0 Requires 
Improvement 
5/10/19 

8.2 varies 

CEDARS & LARCHES CARE HOME DE72 5GR  21 21 Good, 18/10/19 4.7 0 

LADYWOOD CARE HOME DE7 4HL  1 1 Good, 02/03/19 4.7 low 

OLIVER HOUSE CARE HOME DE7 4JY  0 0 Good, 06/12/19 3.7 low 

SANDIACRE COURT NG10 5GT  36 36 Good, 28/03/18 0.6 varies 

VICTORIA PARK CARE HOME DE7 5HB  2 2 Good, 24/07/19 5.3 medium 

BRAMBLE LODGE DE7 6HQ  13 0 Requires 
Improvement 
1/5/19 

6.7 high 

LONGMOOR LODGE NG10 5JP  24 24 Good, 09/03/21 1 low 

VICTORIA COURT DE7 8AY  2 2 Good, 07/04/18 4.8 varies 

WEST HALLAM RES HOME DE7 6GZ  8 8 Good, 21/02/18 6.9 medium 

ASHLEE NG10 2BU  1 0 Requires 
Improvement 
25/12/20 

3.2 0 

CAMDEN NG10 2BU  6 0 Requires 
Improvement 
24/12/20 

3.2 0 

FIRS DE72 3BU  3 3 Good, 05/06/19 2.8 varies 

GRANGE NG10 5NL  3 3 Good, 21/01/21 1 medium 

DCC Homes        

FLORENCE SHIPLEY – Heanor DE75 7AA  4 0 Requires 
Improvement 
08/11/19 

7.9  

P
age 36



Appendix 3 

8 
 

LACEMAKER COURT – Long Eaton NG10 1BE  0 0 Good 08/09/18 3.1  

BRIAR CLOSE – Borrowash * DE72 3GB  0 0 Good 17/07/18 4.3  

HAZELWOOD - Cotmanhay DE7 8SW  0 0 Good 26/06/19 5.8  

BEECHCROFT – West Hallam ** DE7 6JB  0 0 Good 14/03/18 6.3  

Totals (number of beds required and 
total number of vacancies within the 
vicinity)  

 7 147 100    

NB: Hazelwood due to close and relocate when new home is built estimated Summer 2022. Beechcroft vacancies not included in final total of available 

beds. Vicinity  

P
age 37



Appendix 3 

9 
 

Home name Postcode Number of 
long-term 
residents 

Vacancies ‘Good’ 
Vacancies  

CQC rating Distance 
(miles) 

Top ups 

BEECHCROFT - West Hallam DE7 6JB 14   Good, 14/03/18   

ALEXANDRA CARE HOME NG10 4AA  23 0 Requires Improvement 
5/10/19 

8.2 varies 

CEDARS & LARCHES CARE HOME DE72 5GR  21 21 Good, 18/10/19 2.7 0 

LADYWOOD CARE HOME DE7 4HL  1 1 Good, 02/03/19 3.9 low 

OLIVER HOUSE CARE HOME DE7 4JY  0 0 Good, 06/12/19 3.7 low 

SANDIACRE COURT NG10 5GT  36 36 Good, 28/03/18 6.8 varies 

VICTORIA PARK CARE HOME DE7 5HB  2 2 Good, 24/07/19 3.2 medium 

BRAMBLE LODGE DE7 6HQ  13 0 Requires Improvement 
1/05/19 

1.2 high 

LONGMOOR LODGE NG10 5JP  24 24 Good, 09/03/21 7.4 medium 

VICTORIA COURT DE7 8AY  2 2 Good, 07/04/18 3.1 varies 

WEST HALLAM RES HOME DE7 6GZ  8 8 Good, 21/02/18 0.9 medium 

ASHLEE NG10 2BU  1 0 Requires Improvement 
25/12/20 

9.4 0 

CAMDEN NG10 2BU  6 0 Requires Improvement 
24/12/20 

9.4 0 

FIRS DE72 3BU  3 3 Good, 05/06/19 8.2 varies 

GRANGE NG10 5NL  3 3 Good, 21/01/21 3.7 medium 

P
age 38



Appendix 3 

10 
 

 

DCC Homes        

FLORENCE SHIPLEY – Heanor DE75 7AA  4  Requires Improvement 
8/11/19 

5.9  

LACEMAKER COURT – Long Eaton NG10 1BE  0 0 Good 10/08/18 9.1  

BRIAR CLOSE – Borrowash * DE72 3GB  0 0 Good 17/07/18 6.3  

HAZELWOOD - Cotmanhay DE7 8SW  0 0 Good 26/06/19 4.7  

LADYCROSS – Sandiacre ** NG10 5GF  0 0 Good, 02/04/20 6.7  

ADA BELFIELD - Belper DE56 1DF  10 10 Awaiting inspection 8.3  

Totals (number of beds required 
and total number of vacancies in 
the vicinity) 

 14 157 104    P
age 39



 

LEGAL\51343228v1 

Appendix 4  
 

See attached document 
 

Appendix 4 - Major change and closure guidance - Accommodation, care and 
                     support for older people - DCC Adult Social Care 

 

 
https://staff.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/working-here/adult-
care/major-change-and-closure-guidance-accommodation-care-and-support-for-
older-people.pdf 
 

Page 40

https://staff.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/working-here/adult-care/major-change-and-closure-guidance-accommodation-care-and-support-for-older-people.pdf
https://staff.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/working-here/adult-care/major-change-and-closure-guidance-accommodation-care-and-support-for-older-people.pdf
https://staff.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/working-here/adult-care/major-change-and-closure-guidance-accommodation-care-and-support-for-older-people.pdf


  

Page 25 of 25 
 
LEGAL\51343228v1 

Appendix 5 

 
OUR PLEDGES TO RESIDENTS 

1. We will treat you with dignity and respect, consulting with you and keeping you 

informed throughout the process 

 

2. We will ensure relatives and friends chosen by you are informed of the home 

closure and are able to remain involved in the process too 

 

3. We will name a member of staff from your present care home who knows you 

well to listen to you, support you and stay in contact with you 

 

4. We will provide an advocate to assist anyone who does not have mental 

capacity to make decisions about their future arrangements and has no family or 

friend to do this 

 

5. We will discuss your preferences, and care and support needs with you; 

addressing any concerns you or your family or friends have about you moving. 

We will update your assessment if necessary and check you agree with what 

has been written 

 

6. We will try our best to meet your own personal priorities, for example you may 

have friends you particularly wish to stay together with when you move 

 

7. We will ensure you have as much choice as possible about the type of care 

service you choose. We will arrange for you to visit ones you consider may be 

suitable, or for your family or friends to do this if you are unable to do so 

 

8. We will complete a new ‘support plan’ and ‘life book’ with you to make clear your 

likes, things you want to do or be assisted with, your interests and priorities now 

and in earlier life. Once you are in agreement with what is in the plan/book this 

can be used to brief your new service providers and help them prepare for your 

arrival 

 

9. We will ensure within reason you do not incur any additional costs through 

moving to a new provider 

 

10. We will carefully plan the day of your move with you to reduce stress or worries. 

We will take into consideration things like how you travel, who you want to travel 

with you, and write a list of your personal items 

 

11. Finally, we pledge to visit you and find out how you are doing after the move and 

check if there is anything else you wish to be done 

 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Public Questions (30 minute maximum in total)
	5 The future of Direct Care Homes for Older People

